EFFECT OF AGRICULTURAL PRACTICES ON WATER QUALITY IN NDAKAINI

DAM, GATANGA, MURANGA COUNTY, KENYA

ANNROSE WAIRIMU MWANGI

A56/74154/2014

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT FOR THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN LAND AND WATER MANAGEMENT

DEPARTMENT OF LAND RESOURCE MANAGEMENT AND AGRICULTURAL

TECHNOLOGY (LARMAT)

FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI



DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for the award of a degree in any other academic institution.

Date 23rd OCTOBER 2017 Mwangi Wairimu Annrose

This thesis has been submitted to Board of Postgraduate Studies with our approval as university supervisors.

nabri Date: 23rd Oct 2017 Signature:

Prof. Charles K. K. Gachene

Department of Land Resource Management and Agricultural Technology (LARMAT)

University of Nairobi

ton Signature:

Date: 23-10-2017

Dr. Anne N. Karuma

Department of Land Resource Management and Agricultural Technology (LARMAT)

University of Nairobi

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY FORM

This form must be completed and signed for all works submitted to the University for Examination.

Name of student:	
Registration number:	
College:	
Faculty/ School/ Institute:	
Department:	
Course name:	
Title of the work:	ى

DECLARATION

1. I understand what Plagiarism is and I am aware of the university's policy in this regard.

2. I declare that this (Thesis, project, essay, assignment, paper, report etc.) is my original work and has not been submitted elsewhere for examination is award of degree or publication. Where other people's work or my own work has been used, this has properly been acknowledged and referenced in accordance with the University of Nairobi's requirements.

3. I have not sought or used the services of any professional agencies to produce this work.

4. I have not allowed and shall not allow anyone to copy my work with the intention of passing it off as their own work.

5. I understand that any false claim in respect of this work shall result in disciplinary action, in accordance with University Plagiarism Policy.

Signature Date

iii

DEDICATION

To my father, Joseph Mwangi and mother, Adrine Waigwe for their moral support and dedication in ensuring that I got the deserved education; my sisters, Nelius and Peris for their moral and inspiration support, my friends for their social, moral support and constant prayers during the study period.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Sincere thanks to my supervisors Prof. C. K. K Gachene and Dr. Anne N. Karuma for their professional guidance, expertise and support. Your guidance with valued inputs and vital contributions ensured the project succeeded. I also acknowledge the Nairobi Water and Sewerage Company for facilitating my research project. I thank Alice and Judy Mwangi and other technicians in the Department of Bacteriology and full chemical analysis in the Nairobi Water Central Laboratory for their much needed technical support.

I am also grateful to Dr. Muchai, Eng. Kihama, Victor, and Mbugua for successful coordination support during field work. I would also like to appreciate senior programme officer Charles Mwangi from Green Belt Movement and Prof. Hozen K. Mayaya from Institute of Rural Development Planning Dodoma, Tanzania for the conceptualization of my project from the proposal level to the end. Many thanks also go to the staff at Nairobi Water and Sewerage Company based at Ndakaini where i collected my samples and the Nairobi Central laboratory during my water analysis. Your friendliness and helpfulness is much appreciated. Thanks also to my classmates and friends and all those who supported me during my study for their encouraging words. Finally, wish to thank you to my father, mother, and siblings for their inspiration and constant motivation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION
DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY FORM
DEDICATION iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF PLATES
APPENDICES xiv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
ABSTRACTxvi
CHAPTER ONE
1.0 Introduction
1.1 Problem Statement
1.2 Justification
1.3 Objectives
1.3.1 Broad/overall objective
1.3.2 Specific objectives
1.4 Research Questions
CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Water Resources
2.2 Water Quality
2.2.1. Chemical characteristics of water
2.2.2 Physical characteristics of water
2.2.3. Impact of water quality on human health and water treatment system
2.3 Influence of Agricultural Practices on Water Quality
2.4 Influence of Rainfall on Agricultural Pollutants in Water Bodies
2.5 Spatial Analyses on Agricultural Land Use and Water Quality
2.5.1 Preprocessing and post processing of satellite data
2.5.2 Use of remote sensing in water quality analysis
2.6. Statistical Analysis on Water Quality
2.7 Hydrological Modeling
2.7.1 Slope angle and Aspect
2.7.2. Topographical wetness index
CHAPTER THREE
3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS
3.1 Study Area
3.1.1 Climate
3.1.2 Land use
3.2 The Effect of Different Land Use / Land Cover Classes on Water Quality of Ndakaini Dam

3.2.1 Imagery acquisition
3.2.2 Land use classification
3.3 Flow Direction and Topographical Wetness Index (TWI) and Their Effect on Water Quality
3.3.1 Channel network and watershed model
3.3.2 Topographic wetness index model
3.4 Seasonal Assessment of Water quality Parameters Levels and Concentrations in Rivers of Ndakaini Dam Catchment
3.4.1 Collection and analyzing of water samples
3.4.2 Statistical analysis
CHAPTER FOUR
4.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS
4.1 The Effect of Agricultural Land Uses on Water Quality of Ndakaini Dam
4.1.1 Land use
4.1.2 Classification accuracy
4.2 Flow Direction and Topographical Wetness Index (TWI) and Their Effect on Water Quality
4.2.1 Channel network and watershed model
4.2.2 Topographical wetness index model
4.3 Assessment of Nutrient Concentration in Rivers of Ndakaini Dam Catchment in Wet and
Dry Season
4.3.1 Statistical analysis results
4.3.2 Water quality
CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS		
5.1 Recommendations		
5.2 Conclusions		
6.0 REFERENCES		
7.0 APPENDICES		

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1: Location of Ndakaini Dam Catchment
Figure 3.2: Model of channel network and water basin delineation
Figure 3.3: Model of topographical wetness index
Figure 4.1: Land use /land cover thematic map (LANDSAT 8 OLI) (a) dry season and (b) wet season in Ndakaini Dam catchment
Figure 4.2: Wavelength reflection of (a) dry season and (b) wet season land cover of Ndakaini Dam Catchment
Figure 4.3: Percentage land total area (%) in wet and dry season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment . 38
Figure 4.4: Elevation of Ndakaini Dam Catchment
Figure 4.5: Channel network/ drainage basin of Ndakaini Dam catchment
Figure 4.6: Slope angle of Ndakaini Dam Catchment
Figure 4.7: Flow direction of water in Ndakaini Dam catchment
Figure 4.8: Topographical wetness index of Ndakaini Dam catchment
Figure 4.9: Land surface runoff of Ndakaini Dam catchment
Figure 4.10: Level of turbidity in the Mwangu intake, raw and treated water in Ndakaini Dam Catchment
Figure 4 11: Interpolation map of Turbidity levels in different rivers in (a) dry seasons and (b) wet seasons in Ndakaini Dam Catchment
Figure 4.12: Conductivity levels at Mwangu intake, raw and treated water in Ndakaini Dam
Catchment

Figure 4.13: Interpolation map of conductivity level in (a) wet season (b) dry season In Ndakaini		
Dam Catchment		
Figure 4.14: Water color in dry and wet seasons in the Mwangu intake, treated and raw water in Ndakaini Dam catchment		
Figure 4.15: The pH levels of the Mwangu intake, raw and treated water Ndakaini Dam Catchment		
Figure 4.16: Interpolation map of pH level showing (a) wet season (b) dry season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment		
Figure 4:17: Levels of Nitrite in the Mwangu intake, treated and raw water Ndakaini Dam Catchment		
Figure 4.18: Interpolation map of Nitrite level showing (a) wet season (b) dry season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment		
Figure 4:19: Levels of Nitrate in the Mwangu intake, treated and raw water in Ndakaini Dam Catchment		
Figure 4:20: Interpolation map of Nitrate level showing (a) wet season (b) dry season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment		
Figure 4:21: Levels of COD in the Mwangu intake, treated and raw water in Ndakaini Dam Catchment		
Figure 4:22: Interpolation of COD level during (a) wet season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment 58		

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3. 1: Satellite imageries description for Ndakaini Catchment 26
Table 3.2: Bands features of LANDSAT 8 OLI for land use classification in Ndakaini Catchment

LIST OF PLATES

Plate 4.1: Status of Ndakaini dam in (a) dry season (b) wet season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment
Plate 4.2: Status of Ndakaini dam scouring (entry point) (a) wet season (b) dry season in
Ndakaini Dam Catchment

APPENDICES

Appendix 7.1: Wavelength Bands77	j.
Appendix 7. 2: Water quality analytical methods	
Appendix 7.3: WHO international standards (source WHO guidelines for water drinking standards)80)

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ASTER	Advanced Space borne Thermal Emission and Reflection Radiometer
DEM	Digital Elevation Model
GDAL	Geospatial Data Abstraction Library
GPS	Global Positioning System Library
GRASS	Geographical Resources Analysis Support System
LULC	Land Use/Land Cover
Masl	Meters above Sea Level
MFD	Multiple Flow Direction
NDVI	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
OLI	Operational Land Imagery
Q GIS	Quantum Geographical Information System
ROI	Region of Interest
SAGA	System for Automated Geoscientific Analysis
SAM	Spectral Angle Mapping
SCP	Semi-Automatic Classification
SFD	Single Flow Direction
TWI	Topographical Wetness Index
USGS	United State Geological Survey
WOP	Water Quality Parameter

ABSTRACT

Change in Land Use and Land Cover (LULC) is inevitable and accuracy and time are important to detect the change in different seasons to monitor trends and status of water quality. Understanding LULC and Water Quality Parameters (WQP) is necessary for efficient water management and reduction of operation water treatment cost. Therefore, the effect of agricultural land uses on water quality in Ndakaini, Gatanga, Muranga County, the LULC and WOP were analyzed using Remote Sensing (RS), Geographical Information System (GIS) and R Studio. Landsat 8 OLI was used to classify different LULC using band 4, 3, 2. Semi-Automatic Classification Algorithm (SCP) was used to create a Region Of Interest (ROI) and Spectral Angle Mapping Algorithm (SAM) threshold of 90 and pixel size of 1500 was used to create thematic maps. Classification accuracy was 97.5 % overall accuracy and 0.90 kappa coefficiency in dry season, 97.8 % overall accuracy and 0.94 kappa coefficiency in a wet season. Digital Elevation Model (DEM) was also used to delineate channel network. Kiama (14), Kimakia (13), Chania (6) rivers were the longest and largest, and the slopes ranged between 2.78° and 58.3° The land surface factor values were 1.45 m/s, 3.5 m/s, 5.54 m/s, 7.59 m/s and 9.63 m/s. Topographical Wetness Index (TWI) had -1.28 T.U,-0.314 T.U ,0.654 T.U.1.62 T.U and 2.59 T.U and flow direction -1.0 m/s to 6.99 m/s. Water samples were collected and referenced in dry and wet seasons from 8 sampling rivers. Eight WQP including pH, turbidity, conductivity, color, No3, No2, COD, and alkaline analyzed in the laboratory correlated in a different season with WHO standards where p = 0.001. The results showed that LULC in the wet and dry season significantly influenced WQP.

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 Introduction

Agriculture is a fundamental component of the global economy, with farmers shifting to agricultural intensification to meet the increasing demand for food as a result of world's population pressure, which is projected to be 9 billion in a few decades to come (Godfray *et al.*, 2010). Agricultural intensification is the increase of commodity per unit area (Barretto *et al.*, 2013) continuously (Nijbroek and Andelman, 2015). Agriculture intensification has led to the massive use of pesticides and fertilizers, in developed countries (Ongley, 2000), and continuous use of land intensively using traditional methods in developing countries (Tscharntke *et al.*, 2012). Increased fertilizers and agriculture intensification have therefore contributed to increased solutes on surface water, thus decreasing the quality of drinking water (Mattikalli and Richards, 1996).

Water quality is dependent on two key variables such as temperature and rainfall which affect mobility and dilution of contaminants. Increased temperatures affect chemical kinetics while increased flow leads to a change of stream power hence sediments loads with potential to degrade water quality (Whitehead *et al.*, 2009). Agricultural practices, on the other hand, are impacting on soil quality resulting in water pollution due to nutrients leaching and transportation into water bodies (Zalidis *et al.*, 2002). Worldwide, watersheds are facing various challenges of water quality such as pollution and contamination (Smith *et al.*, 2015). Work done by Liu *et al.*, (2015) showed that there is a significant relationship between land use, nitrogen, and phosphorous content in water bodies. The pollution caused by land use had steadily increased in a span of 14 years from 3.11×104 to 3.49×104 tones, and studies done by

Tong and Chen, (2002) using Geographical Information System (GIS) showed that land use had significantly correlated positively with water quality parameters at p-value < 0.0001. However, agricultural intensification has been a global issue affecting water quality in both developing and developed countries (Kwa, 2001). In developed countries, agriculture is done in large scale and thus intensification gear towards the high fertilizers and pesticides use, which cause eutrophication and chemical contamination to water resources. (Tscharntke *et al.*, 2012). This is further supported by Africa statistics that 70 % of the people are food insecure and only 50 % are small-scale farmers in Africa (Omiti and Omiti, 2012). Therefore, use of fertilizers and pesticides are on the lower side, but reliance on associated ecological processes and biodiversity are on the higher side for global food. These ecological processes have led to land degradation associated with sediments as a result of agricultural intensification (Yeshaneh *et al.*, 2014).

Land degradation has resulted from the occurrence of runoff over highly unconsolidated sediments on agricultural areas which are hence transported to water bodies causing high turbidity (Singh, 2009). Studies done on rural highlands in developing countries show that pollutants deposit caused by runoff into water bodies are dependent on land use, type of land cover and the amount of rainfall in the small catchments and medium basins (Tittonell, 2014). In Kenya, the Aberdares is one of the water towers where Ndakaini Dam draws its water. Ndakaini Dam is the primary source of water supply to Nairobi residents and its surroundings, which is fed by Thika, Kimakia, Kayuyu, Kiama, Githeka, and China Rivers (Hunink and Droogers., 2015). The primary land use in Ndakaini dam catchment is agriculture with a bias towards cash crop and subsistence (Leisher, 2013). However, Ndakaini Dam faces challenges of sedimentation and chemical pollutants from nutrients enrichment, which have resulted in water quality degradation (Leisher, 2013).

1.1 Problem Statement

Agriculture is the backbone of the global economy where intensification is practiced to feed the hungry world. Agricultural intensification is said to increase yields globally and restrict human demand for land (Barretto *et al.*, 2013); through the adoption of sustainable agriculture by the international organization such as Food Agricultural Organization (FAO) which protect resources while increasing yields. Contrary studies done by Godfray *et al.* (2010) in Niger state showed that due to population growth sustainable intensification has become impossible. Tscharntke *et al.* (2012) working in Brazil showed that intensive land use affects hydrological, biological, chemical and aquatic systems. Intensive land use also results in disturbance of gradients which alter nutrient cycle and pollutant export process (Barretto *et al.*, 2013). However, in the developing countries such as Africa intensification is associated with sediments due to erosion, rainfall, steep and rugged terrain which are enhanced by agricultural intensification activities (Guzman *et al.*, 2013). Tu, (2009) in Ethiopia showed that sediments supply in the catchment is heterogeneous in time and space depending on climate, land use, slope, topography, soil type, vegetation and drainage.

In Kenya, agriculture is the engine of the economy accounting for 50 % of the country's gross domestic product (GDP) and 80 % employment (ROK, 2004). Kenya ranks high in the export of tea, coffee, and horticulture products in the world and comprises of both small scale and large scale farming which are said to be the most successful agricultural production regions in the continent (Von Braun, 2007). However, agriculture faces many challenges such as fragmented land size, poor farming skills and open flow of the market leading to growing commercial crops without considering soil conservation measures. As a result, environmental

problems arise such as soil erosion, degradation, and infertility leading to increased sediments and nutrients in water bodies thereby degrading water quality (Agouridis *et al.*, 2005).

Dams are faced with sedimentation problem which has been reducing their storage capacity coupled with high costs of treatment. Hunink and Droogers, (2015) working in Kenya showed that suspended sediments had been a major issue in Ndakaini dam leading to increasing maintenance, treatment cost and reduced lifespan of the reservoir due to siltation. These deposits result from increased runoff of sediments and leaching of nutrients to water bodies (UNESCO, 2002). According to UNDP (2005), nutrients enrichment has become the planet's most widespread water quality problem mostly associated with nitrogen and phosphorous nutrients from agricultural runoff (Davison *et al.*, 2004). Nutrients pollutants, therefore, lead to eutrophication leads to erosion and sedimentation into river, lakes, and streams thereby changing chemical and physical processes of water bodies (Carr and Neary, 2008). Therefore maintenance of water quality through continuous monitoring of a vast number of parameters is essential.

1.2 Justification

With the ongoing land fragmentation which reduces the agricultural land size, farmers practice the continuous cultivation on the same land since practices like crop rotation are not feasible with the size of land they own. This method lowers the soil fertility making farmers to use an excess of inorganic and organic fertilizers to regain soil fertility which can lead to water quality deterioration hence the need to monitor the water quality is justified. The demand for food and land has led to agricultural intensification leading to the depreciation of water quality in Ndakaini Dam and its sources. Knowledge of likely sources of non-point and point pollution, the amount of sedimentation and water quality status is essential in enhancing clean and safe water for consumers and saving water treatment and operational cost. Unsustainable agricultural practices, on the other hand, are posing risks to water quality downstream resulting in eutrophication, nutrients leaching and runoff and chemical waste runoff. Ndakaini dam being an important reservoir for Nairobi and neighboring residents produce 430,000 m³ / day of water which is about 84 % of the total water supply, and has a storage capacity of 70,000,000 m³. The facility is at 2,041 meters above sea level (masl), with an average depth of 65 m. Thus, there is need for the assessment of water quality parameters from the catchment to the end user. The assessment of WQP will enable effective management of water quality through identification of the major land uses that are a threat to water quality and address it effectively and sustainably.

1.3 Objectives

1.3.1 Broad/overall objective

To assess the effect of different land use / land cover classes in different catchment on water quality in Ndakaini Dam, Gatanga, Muranga County, Kenya

1.3.2 Specific objectives

- i. Effect of flow direction and topographical wetness index on water quality
- Seasonal assessment of water quality parameters levels and concentrations in rivers of Ndakaini Dam catchment

5

1.4 Research Questions

- a) Does different land use / land cover classes in different catchment have an impac water quality of Ndakaini dam?
- b) Do flow direction and topographical wetness index have an effect on water quality?
- c) Is there any correlation between water quality parameter levels and concentration rivers seasonally?

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Water Resources

Water is life as it transports, dissolves, replenish nutrients and organic matters while carrying away waste (Suthar et al., 2012), and used for consumption by humans and living organisms (Avvannavar and Shrihari, 2008). Globally, 97 % of water is saline present in the ocean and seas, 2 % frozen in the mountains and only 1 % are fresh water present in rivers, lakes, and groundwater (UNESCO, 2002). Rivers have been the most significant resources on which most developmental activities such as dams depend upon (Baskar et al., 2013). The river system connects to form a watershed; small streams feed the large river, and contamination in any of the tiniest streams results to low water quality in rivers downstream (Toman, 2009). However, intensified competitions among users of water have posed a threat to water resources due to population growth and economic activities. According to UNESCO, (2002), 20 % of the world population lacks safe drinking water due to chemical, nutrient enrichment and sediment pollution, which is further coupled with water scarcity as a result of water quality degradation (UNDP, 2005). Nevertheless, studies done in major water towers of Kenya such as Mau Forest Complex, Mt Elgon, and Mt Kenya showed sediments and nutrients steady increase in rainy seasons into the rivers as a result of increased water overflows from agricultural lands leading to water quality degradation (Otieno and Ogalo, 2012).

7

2.2 Water Quality

Water quality is the term used to describe chemical and physical characteristics of water in respect to its suitability for a particular purpose (Sargaonkar and Deshpande, 2003). Water quality parameters selection for testing depends on their use and the need of quality. Some of the important quality parameters are discussed below.

2.2.1. Chemical characteristics of water

Chemical characteristics occur both naturally due to nature of dissolved substances from bedrocks and soils from watersheds, and artificially due to anthropogenic activities such as agriculture (Havelaar and Melse, 2003; Apha, 2005). Major chemical characteristics of water are pH, alkalinity, and conductivity. The pH is a measure of hydrogen ions in water. The ionization of water is HOH H+ + OH-, in neutral solutions [OH] = [H] hence pH = 7, therefore, if acidity increases, [H] increases and pH reduces from 7 (Avvanavar, 2008). However, pH in rivers ranges between 6 and 9 and is determined by pH meter after calibration using buffer 4 and 7 solutions in the laboratory (Apha, 2005). The pH is an important parameter in the water treatment process as the excess of pH causes corrosiveness in pipes, skin disorder to the consumers and also affects aquatic life (Leo and Dekkar, 2000).

Alkalinity is the capability of streams to neutralize acid pollution and resist change in pH, and it is measured using titration method with standard sulphuric acid (0.02 N) at room temperature with methyl orange indicator (Apha, 2005). Conductivity is the ability of water to conduct electrical current measured using conductivity meter in the field (Howard, 1933). Conductivity also measures other solids indirectly such as nitrate and phosphate, whereby an increase in conductivity indicates the presence of these substances in water bodies (Murdoch *et al.*, 1996). Other chemical parameters of importance in monitoring water quality in the agricultural sectors include nitrogen and chemical; oxygen demand Nitrogen occurs naturally in the biogeochemical process, but human activities have interfered with the natural process by use of excess nitrogen fertilizers in agricultural fields. The excess nitrates in water surface causes eutrophication, and in the presence of drinking water it causes meth hemoglobin in red blood cells which is a lack of oxygen -carrying ability (Shah and Joshi, 2015). Nitrates and nitrites in the water are analyzed using UV spectrophotometer in the laboratory calibrated with standard measurements from the manufacturer (Drolc and Vrtovšek, 2010). Water pollution and quality degradation are becoming a threat to water bodies due to agricultural inputs such as nitrogen fertilizers and poor farming practices (Mulei, 2012). These inputs are contaminating aquatic ecosystems through leaching and runoff resulting in water chemistry change thus increasing the high cost of water treatment (Smith *et al.*, 2006).

2.2.2 Physical characteristics of water

A physical characteristic is a parameter that can be observed and measured in the field, or analyzed in the laboratory within a given period. These parameters include turbidity and Total Dissolved Solid (TDS), (Davison *et al.*, 2004). Turbidity measures the clarity of water caused by suspended solids which carry nutrients and pesticides through the stream system as a result of runoff (Murdoch *et al.*, 1996).Turbidity is measured using turbid meter calibrated by standard measurement from the manufacturer. Total dissolved solids are the amount of solutes that dissolve in water, and are significant in indicating some solids erosion has carried nearby or upstream for mitigations. Total dissolved solids are measured indirectly by measuring electronic conductivity in the field (Sargaonkar and Deshpande, 2003).

2.2.3. Impact of water quality on human health and water treatment system

Water quality safety is important in human health as it assists in the setting of quality standard for water quality guidelines (Havelaar and Melse, 2003). Water guidelines are rules that direct the use of water to protect public health while reducing the cost of treatment for safe water (Howard and Bartram, 2003). Clean water is the state at which water does not pose a high risk to the consumer and does not overwhelm the treatment process (Davison *et al.*, 2004).

Various Acts have been put in place to protect water catchment areas in Kenya. These Acts are Environmental Management Coordination Act (EMCA 1999) which prohibits pollution under section 72, Water regulation (2006) with regulation 4 preventing water pollution and regulation 6 deals with the protection of lakes, rivers, streams and springs. The Agricultural Act cap 318 provides the management of agricultural systems and practices. On the other hand, treatment is the process by which raw water undergoes disinfection before distribution to the consumers (Lechevailler and Au, 2004). Thus, monitoring of water quality is a crucial process which needs an approach from catchment where potential pollution both natural and anthropogenic influence water quality downstream and aquifers, impacting treatment steps and operation cost (LeChevallier and Au, 2013). However, an understanding of the variation of raw water and catchment characteristics that lead to pollution is crucial as it influences water treatment requirements (WHO, 2004). Individual priorities are considered in monitoring surface water from the source which includes protected and unprotected catchment, topography, geology and agricultural land use (Bartram and Ballance, 1996). Lack of proper management of land uses at the watershed contributes to sporadic turbidity causing major threats to the water treatment process. This renders disinfection inefficient allowing entry of pathogens in treated water and distribution systems (Pinheiro and Wagner, 2001).

2.3 Influence of Agricultural Practices on Water Quality

Agriculture being the mainstay of the global economy, has to have increased productivity to rest the current food crises impacting on farming practices such as plowing methods, this resulted in poor cultivation practices, deforestation and severe soil degradation worldwide (Tittonell, 2014), leading to sediments loads into the rivers. Sediments in rivers play an important role to stabilize water bodies and riverine systems (Dodds and Oakes, 2008). However, sediment supply and transport has been disturbed over a period through human activities such as agriculture, deforestation, and dams resulting in environmental problems. These environmental conditions include reservoir sedimentation associated with nutrients and contaminants in river systems (Rodríguez *et al.*, 2010), leading to water pollution (Cardinale, 2011).

In Africa, agriculture is vital in economic development which accounts for 25 % of the GDP in African countries (Henao and Baanante, 2006). However, African countries have immense challenges such as affordability of appropriate agricultural technologies and fertilizers since most of them are small-scale farmers (Tittonell, 2014). These Agricultural problems have resulted in inappropriate tillage practices (Mary and Gichuki., 2015), leading to the destruction of soil structure which affects the soil's water holding capacity (Thierfelder and Wall, 2009). Soils with poor structures result to nutrients leaching and surface runoff to water bodies' significantly affecting water quality (Turner and Rabalais, 2003).

Agricultural no-tillage conservation measures practiced over half a century around the world, and their role being to increase soil infiltration and soil moisture to retain nutrients in the soil (Thierfelder *et al.*, 2013). However, the term no-tillage has been having a contradiction since the system does not include crop mulch cover, extended fallow periods, alternative tillage

methods and monoculture. This has resulted in reduced crop yields, high erosion rates and low infiltration rates and elevated fertilizers, which has resulted into water quality degradation (Derpsch *et al.*, 2014).

2.4 Influence of Rainfall on Agricultural Pollutants in Water Bodies

In Kenya, agriculture is mainly rain fed and entirely dependent on bimodal rainfall that is two cropping seasons in most of the country (Romano, 2009). Agriculture has several inputs such as nitrogen and phosphorous applied in farm fields for production (Braskerud, 2002). These pollutants enter into water bodies through runoff process (Ahuja and Lehman, 1983). Runoff is generated by excess infiltration or saturation which occurs when rainfall intensity exceeds the rate at which water can infiltrate into the soil. Saturation occurs mainly in humid areas where rains encounter soils that have reached saturation (Steenhuis *et al.*, 1995; Singh, 2009). Runoff transport nutrients from the fields in solution forms which contribute to accelerated nutrients and sediments decreasing water quality (Dexter *et al.*, 2004; Tu, 2009).

Pollutant transport relates to rainfall infiltration, runoff, subsurface flow and soil erosion which are affected by environmental factors such as rainfall intensity, rainfall duration, rainfall kinetic energy, slopes, vegetation and soil types (He *et al.*, 2015). Chen *et al.* (2012) working in china and Jiang *et al.* (2014) in south east China showed that nutrient losses are higher when rainfall intensity is strong, and the slope gradient is steep. About the degree of drought, rainfall intensity and duration determine the level of pollution in scenario models (Shi *et al.*, 2013). Nitrogen loss in the soil, as well as non-point source pollution and leaching rate of nitrogen, were positively correlated under the different scenario of drought and floods from a micro level (Ran *et al.*, 2012).

Studies done in dams showed a high rate of sedimentation which was accelerated by soil erosion due to the rapid deforestation and agricultural practices thereby degrading water quality (Saenyi and Chemilil, 2002). Maillarda and Santos, (2008) working in Brazil showed that LULC and turbidity had a healthy relationship in the dry and wet season, thus need for monitoring. The Wei River basin in China indicates that rainfall and agricultural activities are spatial-temporal factors that correspond to water chemistry which vary differently in the dry and wet seasons thus need for monitoring in both seasons (Yu, 2015). A dam is a hydraulic structure of somewhat impervious material built across a river to hold water for agriculture household, hydropower and other purposes (Maingi and Marsh, 2002).

Globally, dams are facing challenges of sedimentation as a result of agricultural practices these sediments have two dimensions namely physical and chemical. In the chemical aspect, the silt and clay fraction of the soils carry chemicals such as phosphorous and nitrogen into the rivers and finally to the dams, whereas with the physical the sediments drain into rivers (FAO, 1996). However, studies done in Ethiopia showed that deforestation and poor agricultural practices had been major causes of sedimentation in reservoirs which carry with them nitrogen and phosphorous (Bishaw, 2001). Over a decade, spatial-temporal analyses have been used to detect agricultural land use change and also water quality through the integration of remote sensing and geographical information system (GIS) (Weber, 2001). Studies done by Dodds and Oakes, (2008) in the United States (US) Showed riparian zone has an influence on hydrological condition due to intensive cultivation of river bank.

2.5 Spatial Analyses on Agricultural Land Use and Water Quality

Spatial analysis is a technique on the topological and geometry of particular location in specific time (Anselin, 2010). Spatial analysis data is dependent on the location described by geographic coordinates and attributes of the objects, which includes data such as rainfall, soil type, terrain, land cover and land use (Ding and Fotheringham, 1992). The spatial object describes polygons format that correspond to the measurement zones such as sampling points (Goodchild, 1987; Goodchild *et al.*, 1992).

Spatial tools have been used for decades to study agricultural land use patterns and water quality worldwide through the use of Remote Sensing (RS) and integration of GIS. Remote sensing is the science and art of obtaining an area through analysis of data acquired through a device that is not in contact with the area (Lillesand *et al.*, 2014). Lee *et al.*, (2009) working in South Korea showed that water quality parameters are significantly related to land use patterns including size, edge areas and shape complexity of agricultural land uses. Yu *et al.* (2015) in China also reported (p <0.05) correlation between water quality and agricultural land uses.

Remote sensing and GIS have been used in the United States where seasonal patterns of surface water quality characteristics such as nutrients and suspended solids were observed and showed positive correspondence with the seasonality of agricultural production (Poudel *et al.*, 2013). Poudel, (2006) in US found that surface water quality parameters monitored using RS and GIS showed monthly, daily, seasonal and annual changes due to different agricultural practices with positive significance level (Lillesand *et al.*, 2014).Remote sensing has been used to develop a way forward for water resources problems through monitoring of the water quality and

quantity, understanding land use and management of water resources both at local and regional scale (Tjandra *et al.*, 2003).

Remote sensing is useful in providing cost effective means to develop land use over large geographical regions (Lunetta *et al.*, 2006). It also has the capability of viewing various classes of vegetation at different stages and times using wavelength specific foliar reflectance (0.77-0.9 μ m), pigment absorption (0.45-0.69 μ m) and foliar moisture content (1.55-1.75 μ m) (Epiphanio *et al.*, 2010). Classification between different crop types in determining the land cover impact on water quality can be difficult thus combining similar classes in attaining classification accuracy is necessary (Brown *et al.*, 2013).

Geographical information system is used in the processing, analyzing and integrating of spatial data sets. The GIS has been used to analyze spatial variations of conductivity and land use in catchment where conductivity level showed a positive correlation with dissolved materials from land use. Conductivity is therefore correlated to land use and effects of land use due to pollution downstream (Wang and Liu, 2004). The integration of GIS with remote sensing enables the incorporation of a different source of data into change detection applications (Weng, 2002). Different algorithms are compared to get the best change detection; thus, there is a need to use diverse and sophisticated remote sensing data available from satellites imageries (Lu *et al.*, 2004).

The imageries range widely, but their acquisition depends on need and purpose. In agricultural LULC, Landsat and Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) 30 m resolution have been used to monitor agricultural activities in Brazilian Amazons for decades to determine crop age and health efficiently (Almeida *et al.*, 2016). Landsat has been significant in analyzing

agricultural activities for years due to their high resolution in vegetation detection (Brown *et al.*, 2013). Landsat provides valuable remote sensing data for land cover classification, an important factor for improving the performance of ecosystem and hydrological models (Song *et al.*, 2001; Ke *et al.*, 2015). Studies done shows that Operation Land Imager low resolution of imagery used to monitor water quality can affect model certainty (Cotter *et al.*, 2003). Therefore it is important to acquire the correct resolution to attain high classification accuracy.

Landsat imageries over the years have also been used to detect human activities due to their excellent spatial resolution. Different Landsat sensors have been launched over the years from Landsat 1 to 8, with Landsat 8 (OLI) recently launched in 2013. Landsat 8 has been a greater successor over Thematic Mapper (TM) and Enhanced Thematic Mapper (ETM), due to new coastal aerosols band (0.43 to 0.45µm). The coastal aerosols have been helpful in retrieving aerosols properties as it covers shorter wavelengths than Landsat TM and ETM Plus blue bands and cirrus band (1.36 to 1.39µm) for detecting clouds (Vermote *et al.*, 2016).

A comparison of multiple sensors indicate that Landsat 8 OLI has a greater NDVI contrast between vegetation and water areas and provide higher spatial variability thus suitable for monitoring land cover mapping and spatial-temporal dynamics of water quality (Ke *et al.*, 2015). Nevertheless, remote sensing has been used in monitoring water quality parameters and non-point source pollution in different seasons (Marwick *et al.*, 2014). A study in RS indicated; increase of N in wet season at significant level of p < 0.01 and turbidity, Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD), electrical conductivity had significant level in wet season with p < 0.01(Maillard and Santos, 2008).

2.5.1 Preprocessing and post processing of satellite data

Preprocessing has been used over the years to correct geometric and radiometric errors in imagery. Radiometric is a procedure that correctly estimates the target reflectance from the measured incoming radiation (Chen Chavez, 1996). The errors occur from sensor failure as well as an effect of atmospheric distortion. Therefore, it is important to remove stripping, missing data and intensity difference between bands caused by different sensitivity of the sensors (Hansen and Loveland, 2012). Pre-processing has been done using various GIS software such as ArcGIS, Enhanced Normal Vegetation Index (ENVI), Earth Resources Data Analysis System (ERDAS) and QGIS, whereby all convert Digital Numbers (DN) into reflectance values.

Reflectance is the ratio between reflected and incident energy on a surface, while DN is the number of pixels. Atmospheric correction of reflectance values is useful during preprocessing phase because the electromagnetic energy measured by a satellite which is affected by the atmospheric affect that is absorbed and scattered. Image conversion to reflectance improves classification results (Mather and Tso, 2016). Atmospheric correction is done using Dark Object Subtraction (DOS) Method in Landsat 8 which is more realistic on geographical object recognition on Normal Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) and Normal Difference Water Index (NDWI) data (Chavez, 1988).

Post processing is the accuracy assessment of digital remotely sensed data on thematic maps classified. In the 1980's imageries were assumed to be 100 % accurate with the traditional method of photo interpretation been used (Biging and Congalton, 1989). However, as digital satellites upgraded and became more complicated, photo interpretation could no longer be used therefore accuracy validation method had to be invented (Congalton, 1991; Olofsson, *et al.*,

2013). Accuracy validation methods developed included user accuracy, producer accuracy, and Kappa in which all of them had different functions.

User accuracy corresponds to the error of inclusion whereby it calculates the numbers of pixel on a map are same as what is on the ground, while producer accuracy corresponds to exclusion whereby it calculates how many pixels on the thematic map are labeled correctly for a given class in reference plots. Kappa, on the other hand, reflects the difference between the actual agreement (GPS data) and protocol (classified map) expected by chance (Shao and Wu, 2008). Despite Kappa being dismissed as a less accurate method of validating classification accuracy, it has stood out to be the only method that verifies accuracy using spatial frequency of an image, homogeneity of the image (low spatial frequency) and heterogeneity of the image (high spatial frequency). Kappa uses United States Geological Survey (USGS) standard of image data classification > 85 % (Anderson, 1976). In this specification, the greater the accuracy of classification the higher the accuracy, on the other hand, balancing producer and user improved the accuracy (Shao and Wu, 2008). Post processing and pre-processing are therefore important in this study as they enhance the quality of the results which enable the monitoring of the actual water quality problems on the ground.

2.5.2 Use of remote sensing in water quality analysis

Satellite remote sensing has shown potential on monitoring water quality and other environmental phenomena (Nobuhle *et al.*, 2014). Water parameters data collection in developing countries have created a gap in water quality monitoring due to insufficient funds for collecting data on the ground (Harvey and Grabs, 2003). However, remote sensing has

become a major tool for monitoring water resources especially physical parameter such as turbidity (Marrari *et al.*, 2006 and Shen *et al.*, 2010).

Reflectance from remote sensing data in detecting water in rivers; depends on the contribution of atmospheric and total signals that reach the sensors at the Top of the Atmosphere (TOA) which are important for turbidity detection (Dogliotti *et al.*, 2011). ShortWave Infrared (SWIR) bands have been used in turbidity detection whereby SWIR in atmospheric corrections assumes a black pixel in several bands algorithm, which has been of great importance in water reflection (Knaeps *et al.*, 2015). Total suspended matter leads to increase of backscattering which increases water reflections in SWIR due to absorption which is dependent on the dissolved and particulate matter (Knaeps *et al.*, 2012). Research done by Wang and Liu, (2004) in Korea show that in situ measurements of water quality parameters such as pH, turbidity, alkalinity, COD, nitrate, nitrite, conductivity are time consuming and expensive over large scale . Therefore, monitoring WQP using remote sensing which can cover a large area and has high spatial, spectral resolution than in situ becomes beneficial (Lim and Choi, 2015).

2.6. Statistical Analysis on Water Quality

Statistics is the computation method by which characteristics of a population interfered is observed and a representative sample from that population is made. It helps in the manipulation of ambiguous data to solve a problem. Statistical tools such as a Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS) and Microsoft Excel have been used in research for decades to analyze water quality (Knott and Steube, 2010). However, users of R statistical programming software have been able to perform advanced spatial data analysis and compute big data (Harrington *et al.*, 2009). The R statistical programming software is a coding language that has a high capacity to

compute statistics and graphics (Crawley, 2012), and has an interface that provides thousands of useful plugins (Kabakof, 2015).

On the other hand, the R-Studio software integrates development environment for reproducible research that allows keeping track of changes in the document and compatible with other programming tools such as JavaScript and Python (Tsou, 2004). JavaScript and Python are useful in web applications such as downloading imageries and also cut down on a server (Gandrud, 2013). The R has geostatistics packages which deal with point pattern analysis such as lattice, Rgdal, map tools, rgeo, raster and stat, which have enabled the software to conduct both statistical and spatial analysis (Pebesma, 2004). Studies in R have been done using the factorial analysis which is a technique that explains the correlation between water parameter variables observed, where correlation matrix had significant p < 0.5 (Yu *et al.*, 2003).

2.7 Hydrological Modeling

Hydrology is the study that encompasses occurrence, distribution, movement and quality of water on the earth (Singh and Fiorentino., 2013). Transport processes in water are crucial in monitoring physical and chemical parameters of the river system. Movement of water in rivers is both spatial and temporal derived by gravity and approximated by Digital Elevation Model (DEM) (Song *et al.*, 2001). Digital elevation model is a quantitative representation of the earth's surface providing necessary information about terrain relief which can be in a grid or Triangulated Irregular Network (TIN) format (Guth, 2006). Digital elevation model has been used widely in modeling water flow, route modeling, landform analysis and terrain visualization and mapping (Drover *et al.*, 2015). Computation of DEM has topographical secondary attributes and primary attributes. Primary topographical characteristics include slope,
aspect, and curvature while secondary topographical attributes include topographical wetness index, stream power index, roughness, flow accumulation, flow direction (Jasiewicz *et al.*, 2015).

However, studies on hydrology analysis using ASTER DEM shows that spatial and temporal movement of water pattern in the catchment is important in the understanding of spatial characteristics of pollutants movement (Grabs *et al.*, 2009). A pollutant in the overland flow is affected by the contact time of an overland flow parcel with the soil surface. Spatial distributions of soil moisture significantly affect runoff mechanisms thus soil moisture condition act as the principal factor in estimating potential non-point source pollution (Song *et al.*, 2013).

2.7.1 Slope angle and Aspect

Slope describes the steepness of a surface in an area, important in determining the water flow direction in a water basin, flow accumulation, flow path and river extraction (Cadell, 2002). Water flow direction in a water basin, flow accumulation, flow path and river extraction flow are therefore calculated through methods such as; Deterministic 8 (D8) and Multiple Flow Direction (MFD) and Single Flow Direction (SFD) (Gruber and Packham, 2009). The D8 methods involve water flow in each pixel which is passed to the nearest neighbor using the steepest gradient resulting to 8 possible directions. The D8 method has been used in hill slope areas to model convergence where several cells drain into one cell, and divergence one cell flows into several cells. Multiple flow algorithms are essential in predicting flow path in the upper catchment while single flow algorithm predict flow path at lower watershed (Quinn *et al.*, 1991). Studies done in United Kingdom and Sweden by Quinn *et al.* (1991) and Sorensen and

Seibert (2007) indicated that TWI calculation by MFD algorithm had a high predicting power of soil moisture, influenced by curvature, which calculates the concave and convex of a slope whereby the convex is the ridge while the concave is the channel. Curvature has been used to interpret the effect of terrain on water flow and erosion while profile curvature affects the acceleration and deceleration of flow. Curvature has influenced erosion, deposition, and convergence and divergence of flow (Salvacion, 2016).

2.7.2. Topographical wetness index

Topographical wetness index is a numerical parameterization of infiltration and transmissivity which describe the tendency of the cell to accumulate water. The TWI index is calculated on slope, aspect and curvature computed from ASTER DEM. Successful TWI has been computed by Beven and Kirkby (1979) using the TOPMODEL framework as:

 $TWI = \alpha/tan\beta$

Where α = cumulative upslope area draining through a point per grid catchment cell

Tan β = slope angle at that point

This index describes the potential of water to accumulate at any point at the catchment (α), and the tendency of gravitational force to move water downslope expressed in (tan β) (Quinn *et al.*, 1991). Therefore, high TWI can arise from large contributing drainage area or very flat slopes, whereas low index values arise from drier steep slope or small contributing areas. The resolution of the DEM and the flows route algorithms are therefore very important in determining topographical wetness index. The topography is important in hydrological behavior and saturation where the excess overland flow is simulated using topographical wetness index.

TWI is also important in studying vegetation, soil properties and hydrology in hill slope. Studies done by Singh, (2009) working in Himalayas compared the TWI with soil measurement, and found that TWI had a positive correlation (p < 0.05) with soil moisture (0.44). Thus, TWI forms an important tool for the current study. However, in situ measurements are methods which have been used in Africa and Kenya to monitor water quality. Though they have proven to be effective, they are expensive and laborious thus integration of remote sensing and GIS will be of significance to control WQP and hot spots area of pollution.

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study Area

3.1.1 Climate

The study was conducted at Ndakaini Dam located 50 km north off Nairobi, Kenya (Fig 3.1). Ndakaini catchment is located at latitude 00 49' 13'' S and longitude 360 51' 01'' E with an altitude of 1800 meters above sea level (masl). Ndakaini Dam covers 3sq km with a circumference of 41.5 km and depth of 60 m when full (Yatich *et al.*, 2009). Ndakaini catchment area has bimodal rainfall distribution from March to May (long rain) and October to December (short rain). The mean rainfall is 600 mm to the East and over 2300 mm to the northwest at the Abedares foothills. The mean annual temperature ranges between 20° C at 1400 m above sea level and 12.5° C at 2500 m above sea level (Yatich *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 3.1: Location of Ndakaini Dam Catchment

3.1.2 Land use

Ndakaini has different agro- ecological zones. The upper catchment includes a forest zone with a land cover of bamboo and indigenous alpine trees. The upstream of the dam dominated by tea with an interspace of woodlots and boundary trees in the lands. Napier grass, maize, and vegetables also exist in small plots and lower catchment dominated by smallholder farmers mainly growing tea and small farms of food crops such as maize, beans, and cabbages with dairy cattle, sheep and poultry. In the downstream, the land use changed from tea to coffee and other food crops such as maize, beans, sweet potatoes and yams. Napier grass is also grown and fruit trees, (Okoba, 2005).

3.2 The Effect of Different Land Use / Land Cover Classes on Water Quality of Ndakaini Dam

3.2.1 Imagery acquisition

To determine the flow of water direction, soil moisture, water quality and agricultural land use / land cover, Landsat 8 Operation Land Imager (OLI) and Advanced Space borne Thermal Emission and Reflection Radiometer Digital Elevation Model (ASTER DEM) imagery were acquired from USGS glovis (Table 3.1). These imageries were acquired based on wet and dry season with < 10 % cloud coverage. The seasons used were categories based on Kenya Metrological Department (KMD) precipitation data. The seasons used were namely; a dry season from January to March, long rains from April to June, a short dry season from July to September, a short rain season from October to December for the years 2015 and 2016.

Satellite	Spectral band	Acquired date		Ground resolution
				(M)
	1	2015/10/04		20
ASTER DEM	1	2015/10/04		30
LANDSAT 8 OLI	2,3,4,5,6,7,8	2015/9/18	and	30
		2016/02/25		

Table 3. 1: Satellite imageries description for Ndakaini Catchment

3.2.2 Land use classification

Land use classifications were acquired through Landsat 8 OLI which was launched on February 11, 2013, by American satellite and has 2 sensors that acquire approximately 500 images per day worldwide. Landsat 8 has high- resolution spectrum than ETM and TM due to the additional coastal band and cirrus band (Roy *et al.*, 2014). Landsat8 OLI bands, 2 to 8 were used in the current study as shown in Table 3.2. The images were then preprocessed using semi-automatic classification (SCP) plugin in QGIS. Preprocessing included atmospheric correction using dark object subtraction (DOS) method (Chavez, 1988) and conversion of digital numbers to reflectance values to differentiate pixels. The composite of band 4, 3, 2 were used to classify different land uses in Ndakaini dam catchment using SCP plug in, to group homogenous areas with similar pixels.

The standard classification was carried out according to Anderson, (1976), to come up with 8 different classes. Spectral angle mapping algorithm (SAM) with the threshold of 90 and pixel size of 1500 classes were used to delineate classification of the area of study. Classification 26

accuracy was validated using post processing algorithm via standard kappa measure < 85% (Anderson, 1976). Classification statistics were analyzed using System for Automated Geoscientific Analysis (SAGA GIS) plugin using 2 simple methods whereby the sum pixels, percentage, and area of land cover classes were calibrated (Lu *et al.*, 2004).

 Table 3.2: Bands features of LANDSAT 8 OLI for land use classification in Ndakaini

 Catchment

Bands	Name of band	Wavelength (µm)
Band2	Blue	0.45- 0.51
Band3	Green	0.53-059
Band4	Red	0.64- 0.67
Band5	NIR	0.85- 0.88
Band6	SWIR1	1.57- 1.65
Band7	SWIR	2.11-2.29
Band8	Panchromatic	0.50- 0.68

3.3 Flow Direction and Topographical Wetness Index (TWI) and Their Effect on Water Quality.

3.3.1 Channel network and watershed model

Channel network model was derived from DEM using SAGA GIS plugin in QGIS version 2.14.3 (Fig. 3.3). Various algorithms were used to compute channel system of Kayuyu, Githeka, Thika, Kiama, Kimakia and Chania rivers. Preprocessing of raster data was first done by fill sink algorithm (Liu *et al.*, 2015) to modify the elevation value to enable flow in a cell.

Flow accumulation was then computed using the catchment area (parallel) algorithm which generated catchment (rivers) using D8 methods (O'Callaghan and Mark., 1984). The threshold of 10,000 was set to compute channel network. The threshold is essential in extracting the main channels of study; the larger the threshold the sparse the network channel and the smaller the threshold, the denser the network channel. Watershed basins algorithms were then computed to delineate the sub-basins corresponding to the channel network in vectors format.



Figure 3.2: Model of channel network and water basin delineation

3.3.2 Topographic wetness index model

Topographical wetness index (TWI) was statistically computed using SAGA GIS plugin in QGIS version 2.14.3. The slope angle, aspect, and curvature were first calculated using ten parameter 3rd order polymon (Haralick, 1983) (Fig 3.4), where the accumulation of cell grid was determined. Multiple flows and single flow method were used to establish a flow path from upper catchment to downslope. Topographical wetness index was then statistically calculated according to Beven and Kirby, (1979) where:

 $TWI = \alpha / tan\beta$

Where α = cumulative upslope area draining through a point per grid catchment cell

Tan β = slope angle at that point



Figure 3.3: Model of topographical wetness index

3.4 Seasonal Assessment of Water quality Parameters Levels and Concentrations in Rivers of Ndakaini Dam Catchment

3.4.1 Collection and analyzing of water samples

Water samples were collected in May and January in the year 2015 using a seasonal interval of prolonged rain and long dry seasons. The water samples were collected seasonally (long rain and short rain) from 8 different rivers; Kayuyu River, Githeka River, Thika River, Kiama River, Kimakia River, Chania River, Chania Combined, Dam scouring and Dam surface at the middle catchment and the lower watershed and Mwangu intake, raw water and treated water collected monthly (January to December 2015). The water samples were collected in 2 L sterilized plastic bottles where waters bottles were first rinsed with sampling point water, at 1 m distance from the river bank before collecting to avoid contamination and GPS coordinate collected at that point. The samples were then well packed in a cooler box and transported to the Nairobi Water and Sewerage Company (NWSC) laboratory.

The samples were then analyzed for physico-chemical parameters namely; pH, alkalinity, nitrate, nitrite, and chloride, COD, electrical conductivity and turbidity using the recommended standard methods for drinking water analysis (WHO, 1993). Electrical conductivity was analyzed within 24 hours after collection in the laboratory where the probes were directly inserted into the sampling water and readings recorded (Howard, 1993; LaSota *et al.*, 2000). The pH analysis was conducted using pH meter where a solution of buffer 7 and 4 was first prepared. The pH probes were then inserted to buffer 7 to calibrate to the highest pH value of 7 and also inserted in buffer 4 to calibrate the lowest value of pH 4.

A plastic container measured 250 mL was then rinsed with distilled water and filled with sample water where probes were inserted and pH readings recorded after 15 minutes (LaSota *et al.*, 2000; Alpha, 2005).

Alkalinity was analyzed using acid titration where sulphuric acid was filled in the buret and sample water 30 mL filled in a conical flask, 3 drops of methyl orange indicator were added, after which it was titrated using sulphuric acid till it turned to pink and readings recorded (LaSota *et al.*, 2000). Nitrate and nitrite were analyzed using UV spectrophotometric method (Drolc and Vrtovšek, 2010). Analysis of chlorine was done with chlorimeter in haze units where starch-potassium iodide was added to the water sample, shaken, then inserted into colorimeter and read using chlorine disk.

Turbidity was analyzed using turbidity meter where the machine was zeroed, sample shaken and filled into 10 m L bottle and insert in turbidity meter for reading (LaSota *et al.*, 2000; Murdoch *et al.*, 1996). Chemical oxygen demand (COD) was analyzed using COD digester and UV spectrophotometer where 2.5 mL of water sample was added to the tubes and blank, 2.5 mL of distilled water added, then 1.5 mL of potassium dichromate and 3.5 m L sulphuric acid carefully added to all tubes one after the other. COD digester was then heated to 150° C then tubes were inserted for 2 hours cooled, and the reading is taken with the UV spectrophotometer and values recorded (Golterman, 1969).

3.4.2 Statistical analysis

The physico-chemical parameters analyzed were subjected to descriptive statistics. The median values obtained of individual parameters both for wet and dry seasons were correlated with the WHO standardized allowable values for safe drinking water using Wilcoxon Rank sign test (Gibbons and Chakraborti, 2011). The parameters level where analyzed using the deterministic method which depicted the variation of levels of different parameters in dry and wet season in a visual way through interpolation using Inverse Distance Weighting (IDW) in QGIS software.

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.1 The Effect of Different Land Use / Land Cover Classes on Water Quality of Ndakaini Dam

4.1.1 Land use

The thematic maps for land use were classified into 4 macro classes of vegetation, built area; water bodies and bare soil to identify the major land use / land cover. The 4 macro classes were further classified into 8 micro classes' exotic forest, natural forest, tea, bare soil, roads, annual crops, rivers and dams (Fig 4.1a) (Fig 4.1b) using methods as described by Anderson, (1976) This was as a result of differentiation of different vegetation that existed in Ndakaini catchment. Differentiation of different crops types to determine land cover was difficult due to spectral reflection. Therefore, in this study, crops such as maize, Napier grass, vegetables were combined into one class to align classification accuracy for land under crops. Wavelength per pixel has been used to accurately differentiate Land Use Land Cover (LULC) in different times and stages in image processing (Epiphanio *et al.*, 2010).Therefore, in this study wavelength per pixel was useful in differentiating accurate land use / land cover in different times and stages.



Figure 4.1: Land use /land cover thematic map (LANDSAT 8 OLI) (a) dry season and (b) wet season in Ndakaini Dam catchment

Wavelength influencing composite bands were used to differentiate LULC in the study which showed high reflection in the red band in the dry season and NIR in the wet season (Fig 4.2). This was as a result of the different levels of absorption, reflection, scattering, and transmission by different LULC classes. Reflection in vegetation was characterized by various factors such as chlorophyll pigment, the moisture of the leaves and structure of the leaves as described by (Epiphanio *et al.*, 2010).

Wavelength showed the differences in vegetation. In dry season's earth roads and bare soils started reflecting in a red band in wavelengths 0.69 μ m and 0.68 μ m respectively and dam and rivers with 0.60 μ m. In the wet season, reflectance started at NIR in wavelength 0.89 μ m on earth roads, 0.91 μ m dam, and rivers and 0.50 μ m bare soils (Table 4.1). The variation of the wavelength of earth roads and bare soil was as a result of the absence of vegetation and decreased moisture in the soil in the dry season which influenced reflection (Yu *et al.*, 2015) and increases in moisture and vegetation in wet season whereby absorption of the wavelength increased while reflection decreased. Water is said to backscatter when it has solid matters thus reflecting high (Knaeps *et al.*, 2015). The difference in water wavelength in rivers and dam during dry and wet seasons can, therefore, be explained as; during wet season there was no runoff hence decrease in sediments on surface of these water bodies thus high reflection in wet season in red band.





Figure 4.2: Wavelength reflection of (a) dry season and (b) wet season land cover of Ndakaini Dam Catchment

Percentage land total area for each land use was calculated from land cover thematic maps of the dry and wet season to observe the variation of land use / land cover in the two seasons. The percentage land total area was calculated using two grids for the dry season and wet season. The results showed the differences between wet and dry season. In the comparison of wet and dry season percentage land total area, there was a difference in the two seasons where earth roads ranked high with 12.45 % in dry season and 35.1 % in the wet seasons, The earth roads and soil were not easily differentiated as seen in the reflectance wavelength values in Table 4.1. Therefore, land with no vegetation in the dry and wet season was indicated as roads while extreme soils which had lost moisture reflected high. This, therefore, gave the higher land area coverage (%) of roads at 35.14 % in the wet season than in dry season which was 12.45 %.

These resulted in increasing of turbidity in rivers and dam. The exotic forest was 35.47 % in dry season and 0.25 % in the wet season. Exotic forest also had a high percentage of land area coverage in the dry season (35.46 %) than in wet season (0.25 %). This is due to the fact that in wet season leaves are moist and therefore the reflectance decreased thus resulting in decreasing in percentage in wet season and increase in the dry season. The dam had a difference of 0.81 % in dry season and 1.65 % in the wet season. This was as a result of an increase in water volume in the wet season and a decrease in the dry season which influence speed flow of sediments as shown in Figures 4.2 and 4.3. In the wet and dry seasons as shown in Plate 4.1 and 4.2, bare soils were high in the wet season. Bare soil also had a high percentage which explained the percentage of other crops whereby in wet season they decreased while in the dry season they increased influencing on runoff rates. Natural forest was high with a small difference with the dry season as a result of regeneration of new trees. On the other hand, roads had increased in wet season this was as result of the difficulty in differentiation on roads and bare soil in the wet season thus classifying any land with no vegetation as the road.



Figure 4.3: Percentage land total area (%) in wet and dry season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment



Plate 4.1: Status of Ndakaini dam in (a) dry season (b) wet season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment



Plate 4.2: Status of Ndakaini dam scouring (entry point) (a) wet season (b) dry season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment

4.1.2 Classification accuracy

Classification accuracy is very crucial in land use classification as inaccuracy may result in wrong information and fault data. However, results in the dry season using spectral angle mapping (SAM) had the overall accuracy of 97.5 % and the Kappa coefficient of 0.90. In wet season overall accuracy was 97.8 % and kappa coefficiency of 0.94. This showed high accuracy classification of thematic map > 85 % as described by (Anderson, 1976).

4.2 Flow Direction and Topographical Wetness Index (TWI) and Their Effect on Water Quality

4.2.1 Channel network and watershed model

Channel network and watershed model derived features such as elevation, river order, and watershed. The results enabled water channel and terrain visualization of the Ndakaini catchment. Chania River showed variation in elevation ranging from 1793 masl to 2446 masl from the upper catchment to the downstream; though at the upper catchment there were high elevations at 2198. The highest elevation was observed in Kayuyu River ranging from 1961 masl to 2466 masl (Fig 4.4). This was significant as it enabled to explain the flow of water in different rivers.



Figure 4.4: Elevation of Ndakaini Dam Catchment

The elevation is essential in the calculation of a number of drainage basins within water shade (Fig 4.5). Githeka, Kayuyu and Thika Rivers had the biggest drainage basin with 24 tributaries while Chania had the lowest water drainage basin ranging between 6 tributaries as shown in Fig 4.5. The streams drain into the river to form a watershed (Toman, 2009). Therefore, the number of rivers in each vectorized watershed indicated the length and type of rivers present in the watershed.; and the larger the range of channel network in the watershed the shorter the length of the river while the lowest range of channel network in watershed had the longest river. Chania was the longest while Thika, Kayuyu, and Githeka rivers had the shortest length as shown in Fig 4.5.



Figure 4.5: Channel network/ drainage basin of Ndakaini Dam catchment

The slope angle was also calculated in degrees using DEM. Chania River had the steepest slope along and around the river from catchment to downstream with values of 44.5° to 58.3° as observed in Fig 4.6. Kimakia also was observed to have steep areas along the river with 58.° at the middle catchment and 30.6° to 44.5° around the river at the farm lands. Kayuyu, Githeka, and Thika had steep slopes at the downstream. The slope results indicated Chania River and Kimakia to be prone areas of pollution than the other river.



Figure 4.6: Slope angle of Ndakaini Dam Catchment

However, slope played a major role in determining the prone areas with runoffs and flow direction of rivers where several cells flow into one cell resulting in flow accumulation (Quinn *et al.*, 1991; Gruber and Packham, 2009). In Fig 4.7 Chania River and Kimakia River had the

highest flow direction ranging from 4. m/s to 6.99 m/s and the least being -1.0 m/s. Concave and convex slopes determine convergence and divergence of the flow direction (Salvacion, 2016). As observed in the results in Chania River and Kimakia river had convex slopes which lead to high convergence while on concave slopes there was no convergence hence the negative value of flow direction. Areas with the low value of flow direction had a concave slope where water accumulated from convex slopes, thus high accumulation. However, flow direction was, important in determining areas with high runoff (Chen *et al.*, 2012), as they carry solid matter and nutrients with them to dams and rivers (Suthar *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 4.7: Flow direction of water in Ndakaini Dam catchment

4.2.2 Topographical wetness index model

Topographical wetness index (TWI) determined the potential of water to accumulate at any point at the catchment and tendency of gravitational force to move water downslope, which was highly influenced by slope, aspect, and curvature (Quinn *et al.*, 1991). Therefore, Chania had the highest topographical wetness index values ranging from 1.62 TWI values to 2.59 TWI values, while Thika had the lowest TWI values ranging from - 1.28TWI values to -0.65 TWI values as in Fig 4.8. The high TWI values were as a result of the steep slope in Chania River where runoff was gravitationally moved downslope. Therefore, the rate at which soil moisture exceeded infiltration at all hilly points were low making it prone to erosion into the water bodies. On the other hand, soil moisture which exceeded infiltration at steep areas accumulated in flat areas thus increasing TWI values downslope





However, topographical wetness index is said to have negative values when an area has small numerous steep slopes and rugged slopes (Sighn, 2009) thus the outcome of negative TWI values in the results observed. TWI values are, therefore, crucial in determining soil saturation rate to define pollutant runoffs and seepage into the water bodies (Song *et al.*, 2001).

Land surface runoff described the amount of surface water that had not infiltrated which was influenced by the slope and land cover. Kimakia River was therefore observed to have high values of land surface runoff with 5.54 to 9.63 m/s while the lowest being Thika River with 3.5 m/s. On the other hand, at the peak of the slope, it was seen to have low values of land surface runoff at 1.45 m/s as in Figure 4.9. This was as a result of concave and convex slopes which affected the acceleration and deceleration of surface flow down slopes.



Figure 4.9: Land surface runoff of Ndakaini Dam catchment

Therefore the slopes are said to influence convergence and divergence of flow affecting infiltration rate thus high values of land surface runoff leading to increased turbidity (Salvacion, 2016).

4.3 Seasonal Assessment of Water quality Parameters Levels and Concentrations in Rivers of Ndakaini Dam Catchment

4.3.1 Statistical analysis results

Statistics have been used for decades to manipulate ambiguous water data to solve problems (Knott and Steube, 2010). In this analysis, Wilcoxon rank test (Gibbons and Chakraborti, 2011) was used to calculate the median of each individual parameter and correlated them with WHO standards where all parameters showed significance at p = 0.001 (Table 4.2). In wet and dry season turbidity and nitrate were excluded since they were outliers.

Therefore correlation results showed significance relationship between dry and wet seasons with water quality parameters being significant at p = 0.01. This result was in agreement with findings by Ahuja and Lehman, (1983); Dexter *et al.*, (2004); Tu, (2009). This was as a result of different land use in the different seasons which had a significant impact on water quality.

Parameters	WHO	Wet season	p-value	Dry season	p-value	
	Standardized	median		median		
	values	difference		difference		
Turbidity	≤ 5	0.21	0.83	0.21	0.81	
(T.U)						
pH (pH units)	6.5 - 8.5	3.1	0.02**	3.6	0.001**	
Electrical	≤ 10	3.52	0.001**	3.62	0.001**	
conductivity						
(mg/l)						
Color (haze)	≤15	1.98	0.001**	3.64	0.001**	
Chlorides	250	3.58	0.001**	3.69	0.001**	
(mg/l)						
COD (mg/l)	≤ 10	3.42	0.001**	4.12	0.001**	
Nitrite (mg/l)	0.01	3.52	0.001**	3.65	0.001**	
Nitrate (mg/l)	45	0.69	0.001**	3.62	0.49	

Table 4.2: Correlation matrix of water quality parameters in dry and wet seasons with

WHO standards

P<0.5 significant

**p < 0.001 significant

4.3.2 Water quality

Water quality monitoring has been a means of ensuring the safety of water to human beings and saving operation cost of water treatment (Davison *et al.*, 2004; WHO, 2004; and Pinheiro LeChevallier and Au, 2013;). Therefore, monthly interval results at the intake of the ponds (Mwangu intake), at the ponds (raw water) and treated water were compared to see variation in seasons (Weber, 2001; Yu *et al.*, 2015).

Turbidity levels were high in the month of April to June (long rains), followed by October to December (short rains), January to March (long dry) and June to August (short dry) in the intake and raw water. Mwangu intake turbidity level increased during wet season with 11 to 43 T.U in long rains, 12 to 38 T.U short rains and decreased in the dry season with 3 to 4 T.U long dry and 4 to 5 T.U short dry (Figure 4.10). In the wet season Mwangu intake received water only from Chania River and as observed in the interpolation map in Fig 4.11a turbidity level in Chania River was at 460 T.U which had exceeded WHO standards, also in the observation of physical factors such as slope, TWI, LS, LC and length Chania river had the steepest slope, bare soil, low values of TWI at its slopes and the longest. Therefore, turbidity level at Mwangu intake in wet season was accelerated by the presence of bare soil and the steep slope in Chania River where at the riparian agricultural activities were taking place. Bare soils at steep slopes reduce the rate of infiltration into the soil and increase the speed of runoff flow carrying away top soils into water bodies (Turner and Rabalais, 2003; Singh, 2009; Ran et al., 2012; He et al., 2015). In dry season Mwangu intake received water from Kiama, Kimakia, Kayuyu, Githeka and Thika through Ndakaini dam. As observed in the resulting turbidity had decreased due to increased crop coverage thus reducing bare soil surface since it was crop maturity season and also flow accumulation was reduced as result of decreased water content.

Mwangu intake and raw water in the ponds had a difference of 46 units in both long and short rains. This was as a result of churning of accumulated sediments in the ponds due to a high pressure of water as it enters the ponds; this was also observed in the interpolation map in the dam scouring which had 290 T.U (Figure 4.11a). However, comparisons of turbidity level in different rivers in the dry and wet season, showed turbidity to be high in the wet season than in dry season. (Fig 4.11a) (Fig. 4.11b).



Figure 4.10: Level of turbidity in the Mwangu intake, raw and treated water in Ndakaini Dam Catchment



Figure 4 11: Interpolation map of Turbidity levels in different rivers in (a) wet seasons and (b) dry seasons in Ndakaini Dam Catchment

Conductivity was high in long rains from mid-March to May which was 49 to 450 mg/l and 450 mg/l at a high peak in the month of April. This was as a result of sediment deposit at the pond due to increased turbidity (Murdoch *et al.*, 1996). As observed in the study rivers absorbed and transmitted in red band 0.6µm which showed the presence of settled sediments at the bottom of the river. Conductivity increased at the beginning of the long rains in April thus increasing ions and cations. In the intake, it increased in mid-October peaking at November (100 mg/l) and decreasing in December to 50 mg/l (Figure 4.12).

This is was also further confirmed by what was observed in the catchment by interpolation maps where conductivity was higher in the wet season than in dry season (Figure 4.13), and Chania ranked high at 25.69 mg/l and Kimakia at 22.54mg/l.



Figure 4.12: Conductivity levels at Mwangu intake, raw and treated water in Ndakaini Dam Catchment



Figure 4.13: Interpolation map of conductivity level in (a) wet season (b) dry season In Ndakaini Dam Catchment

The color was also influenced by wet and dry season as a result of dissolved solids since both long rain and short rain periods had high peaks measuring 5 haze at intake (May) and 10 haze in December, ponds (raw) May 12 haze and November 20 haze (Figure 4.14).

The pH was neutral (7 pH units) throughout the year except in the month of February at the treatment which was slightly alkaline (8.0 pH units) (Figure 4.15). These pH values were in agreement with WHO water drinking standards. On the other hand pH, levels in different rivers in different seasons was observed (Fig 4.16a) (Fig 4.16b) where the values were neutral in wet season due to dilution in rivers thus lowering alkalinity.



Figure 4.14: Water color in dry and wet seasons in the Mwangu intake, treated and raw water in Ndakaini Dam catchment

However, in the dry season pH was slightly acidic in Githeka River, Kayuyu River and Kimakia River ranging 5.8 pH to 5.87 pH. This was due to increased salts as a result of a decrease in water volumes as consumption increases as well as increased evaporation and transpiration



Figure 4.15: The pH levels of the Mwangu intake, raw and treated water Ndakaini Dam Catchment

53



Figure 4.16: Interpolation map of pH level showing (a) wet season (b) dry season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment

Nitrogen occurs naturally in the biogeochemical processes but humans have interfered with cycle through intensive cultivation leading to being deposited into rivers in form of sediments and runoff water (Shah and Joshi, 2015; Kithiia, 2012). However, results in this study had 0mg/l nitrite in the long dry period, long rain, and short dry periods in treated water, raw water (ponds) and intake. Nevertheless, there was a drastic increase in the short rain period in treated water, Mwangu intake and raw water (ponds) where the levels were 5mg/l in raw water, 0.3mg/l in treated water and 0.2mg/l at the intake (Fig 4.17). On the other hand, nitrite increased in the dry season than in wet season attaining a peak of 15mg/l (Fig 4.18a) (Fig 4.18b) which was within the range of WHO water drinking standards.



Figure 4:17: Levels of Nitrite in the Mwangu intake, treated and raw water Ndakaini



Figure 4.18: Interpolation map of Nitrite level showing (a) wet season (b) dry season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment

The result of nitrate levels for the different rivers and for the two seasons is shown in (Fig 4.19) and shows a comparison in the wet and dry season. In the dry season, the level of nitrate was 0 to 7.5 mg/l perhaps due to the decreased runoff. In the wet season Nitrate increased in Chania River, Kimakia, and Thika at 23.75 mg/l to 96.50 mg/l (Fig 4.20). This was due to the high percentage of bare soil observed along riparian and the upper catchment and steep slopes, thus accelerating runoff downslope.



Figure 4:19: Levels of Nitrate in the Mwangu intake, treated and raw water in Ndakaini Dam Catchment


Figure 4:20: Interpolation map of Nitrate level showing (a) wet season (b) dry season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment

Chemical oxygen demand was not detected in the dry season but was detected in wet season where COD was high in Chania and Kiama River from 16.11mg/l to 17.9 mg/l (Fig 4.21). This was due to high nitrate levels in the wet season in Chania and Kiama River.







Figure 4:22: Interpolation of COD level during (a) wet season in Ndakaini Dam Catchment

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.2 Conclusions

Chania River was observed in this study to be the hotspot of pollution, as it had high levels of water quality parameters such as turbidity (460 TU) and conductivity (25.60 mg/l) in wet season. These water quality parameters were characterized by its physical factors such as slope ranging ($44.5^{\circ}-58.3^{\circ}|$), length of the river, LS (5.54 - 9.63 m/s) and TWI (0.654 - 2.59 m/s) On the other hand, Landsat 8 OLI was effective in the classification of the different land use types where by Thematic map showed Chania river to have high coverage of bare soil.

5.1 Recommendations

Ndakaini stakeholders (Farmers, NWSC, WARMA, CBOs, Ministry of agriculture, Tea factories and KFS) should come up with sustainable conservation plan focusing mainly on education on sustainable agricultural methods along the riparian, awareness on importance of water resources, participation in decision making for ownership purpose. This will curb sedimentation problem. On the other hand integration of GIS technology should also be adopted by Nairobi Water and Sewerage Company for fast and effective analysis of water management from the catchment to the treatment to cut the cost of management and also create an effective database for future follow up and repletion of research. Training should also be done to the staff in order to be able to use the technology.

6.0 REFERENCES

- Agouridis, C. T., Workman, S. R., Warner, R. C., and Jennings, G. D. (2005). *Livestock grazing* management impacts on stream water quality: a review1.
- Ahuja, L. R., and Lehman, O. R. (1983). The extent and nature of rainfall-soil interaction in the release of soluble chemicals to runoff. *Journal of Environmental* Quality, 12 (1), 34 -40.
- Almeida, C. A. D., Coutinho, A. C., Esquerdo, J. C. D. M., Adami, M., Venturieri, A., Diniz, C. G., and Gomes, A. R. (2016). High spatial resolution land use and land cover mapping of the Brazilian Legal Amazon in 2008 using Landsat-5/TM and MODIS data. *Acta Amazonica*, 46 (3), 291 302.
- Anderson, J. R. (1976). A land use and land cover classification system for use with remote sensor data (Vol. 964). US Government Printing Office.
- Anselin, L., and Getis, A. (2010). Spatial statistical analysis and geographic information systems. In *Perspectives on spatial data analysis* Springer Berlin Heidelberg (p p. 35 -47).
- Apha, A. W. W. A. (2005). Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, APHA, AWWA.
- Avvannavar, S. M., and Shrihari, S. (2008). Evaluation of water quality index for drinking purposes for river Netravathi, Mangalore, South India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 143 (1), 279 - 290.
- Barretto, A. G., Berndes, G., Sparovek, G., and Wirsenius, S. (2013). Agricultural intensification in Brazil and its effects on land use patterns: an analysis of the 1975 – 2006 period. *Global change biology*, 19 (6), 1804 - 1815.

- Bartram, J., and Ballance, R. (Eds.). (1996). Water quality monitoring: a practical guide to the design and implementation of freshwater quality studies and monitoring programmes. CRC Press.
- Baskar, S., Narasimhan, N., Swamidoss Daniel, G., Ravichelvan, R., Sukumaran, M., and Anandaraj, T. (2013). Seasonal Variations in physico-chemical parameters of river Cauveri, Thanjavur, Tamil Nadu, India. *International Journal of Research in Biological Sciences*, 3 (1), 8 - 11.
- Beven, K. J., and Kirkby, M. J. (1979). A physically based, variable contributing area model of basin hydrology/Un modèle à base physique de zone d'appel variable de l'hydrologie du bassin versant. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 24 (1), 43 - 69.
- Biging, G., and Congalton, R. (1989). Advances in forest inventory using advanced digital imagery. *Proceedings of Global Natural Research Monitoring and Assessments: Preparing for the 21st Century, Venice, Italy*, 2430, 12411249.
- Bishaw, B. (2001). Deforestation and Land Degredation in the Ethiopian Highlands: A Strategy for Physical Recovery. *Northeast African Studies*, 8 (1), 7 25.
- Braskerud, B. C. (2002). Factors affecting phosphorus retention in small constructed wetlands treating agricultural non-point source pollution. *Ecological Engineering*, 19 (1), 41 -61.
- Brown, J. C., Kastens, J. H., Coutinho, A. C., de Castro Victoria, D., and Bishop, C. R. (2013).
 Classifying multiyear agricultural land use data from Mato Grosso using time-series
 MODIS vegetation index data. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 130, 39 50.

Cadell, W. (2002). Report on the generation and analysis of DEMs for spatial modelling.

- Cardinale, B. J. (2011). Biodiversity improves water quality through niche partitioning. *Nature*, 472 (7341), 86 89.
- Carr, G. M., and Neary, J. P. (2008). Water quality for ecosystem and human health. UNEP/Earthprint.
- Chavez, P. S. (1988). An improved dark-object subtraction technique for atmospheric scattering correction of multispectral data. *Remote sensing of environment*, 24 (3), 459 479.
- Chen Chavez, P. S. (1996). Image-based atmospheric corrections-revisited and improved. *Photogrammetric engineering and remote sensing*, 62 (9), 1025 - 1035.
- Chen, C., Yu, Z. B., Xiang, L., He, J. J., and Fu, X. L. (2012). Effects of rainfall intensity and amount on the transport of total nitrogen and phosphorus in a small agricultural watershed. In *Applied Mechanics and Materials* (Vol. 212, pp. 268 - 271). Trans Tech Publications.
- Congalton, R. G. (1991). A review of assessing the accuracy of classifications of remotely sensed data. *Remote sensing of environment*, 37 (1), 35 46.
- Cotter, A. S., Chaubey, I., Costello, T. A., Soerens, T. S., and Nelson, M. A. (2003). Water quality model output uncertainty as affected by *spatial resolution of input data1*, 977 -986
- Crawley, M. J. (2012). The R book. John Wiley and Sons.data: an application of topographic map revision. ISPRS *Journal of Photogrammetry*
- Davison, A., Howard, G., Stevens, M., Callan, P., Kirby, R., Deere, D., and Bartram, J. (2004). Water safety plans. *WHO, Geneva*.

- Derpsch, R., Franzluebbers, A. J., Duiker, S. W., Reicosky, D. C., Koeller, K., Friedrich, T., and Weiss, K. (2014). Why do we need to standardize no-tillage research? Soil and *Tillage Research*, 137, 16 - 22.
- Dexter, A. R., Czyż, E. A., and Niedźwiecki, J. (2004). Water run-off as affected by the distributions of values of hydraulic conductivity of the soil. Annual Review of *Agricultural Engineering*, 3 (1), 87 - 96.
- Ding, Y., and Fotheringham, A. S. (1992). The integration of spatial analysis and GIS. Computers, Environment and Urban Systems, 16 (1), 3-19.
- Dodds, W. K., and Oakes, R. M. (2008). Headwater influences on downstream water quality. *Environmental management*, 41 (3), 367 - 377.
- Dogliotti, A. I., Ruddick, K., Nechad, B., and Lasta, C. (2011). Improving water reflectance retrieval from MODIS imagery in the highly turbidity waters of La Plata River. In *Proceedings of VI International Conference "Current Problems in Optics of Natural Waters.*
- Drolc, A., and Vrtovšek, J. (2010). Nitrate and nitrite nitrogen determination in waste water using on-line UV spectrometric method. *Bioresource technology*, 101 (11), 4228 -4233.
- Drover, D. R., Jackson, C. R., Bitew, M., and Du, E. (2015). Effects of DEM scale on the spatial distribution of the TOPMODEL topographic wetness index and its correlations to watershed characteristics. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions*, 12, 11817-11846.

Edition, F. (2011). Guidelines for drinking-water quality. WHO chronicle, 38, 104 - 108.

- Epiphanio, R. D. V., Formaggio, A. R., Rudorff, B. F. T., Maeda, E. E., and Luiz, A. J. B. (2010). Estimating soybean crop areas using spectral-temporal surfaces derived from MODIS images in Mato Grosso, Brazil. *Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira*, 45 (1), 72 80.
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO). (1996). *Report of world food summit* Rome Italy From http://www.unt.edu/rss/class/SPSS/course1.htm#VI.

Gandrud, C. (2013). Reproducible Research with R and R Studio. CRC Press.

- Gibbons, J. D., and Chakraborti, S. (2011). *Nonparametric statistical inference* (pp. 977 979). Springer Berlin Heidelberg proceedings.
- Godfray, H. C. J., Beddington, J. R., Crute, I. R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J. F., and Toulmin, C. (2010). Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. *science*, 327 (5967), 812 - 818.

Golterman, H. L. (1969). Methods for chemical analysis of fresh waters.

- Goodchild, M. F. (1987, November). Towards an enumeration and classification of GIS function. In *proceedings International. GIS Symposium*.
- Goodchild, M., Haining, R., and Wise, S. (1992). Integrating GIS and spatial data analysis: problems and possibilities. *International journal of geographical information systems*, 6 (5), 407 423.
- Grabs, T., Seibert, J., Bishop, K., and Laudon, H. (2009). Modeling spatial patterns of saturated areas: A comparison of the topographic wetness index and a dynamic distributed model. *Journal of Hydrology*, 373 (1), 15 23.
- Gruber, S., and Peckham, S. (2009). Land-surface parameters and objects in hydrology. Developments in Soil Science, 33, 171 - 194.

- Guth, P. L. (2006). Geomorphometry from SRTM. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote* Sensing, 72 (3), 269 - 277.
- Guzman, C. D., Tilahun, S. A., Zegeye, A. D., and Steenhuis, T. S. (2013). Suspended sediment concentration-discharge relationships in the (sub-) humid Ethiopian highlands. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 17 (3), 1067 - 1077.
- Hansen, M. C., and Loveland, T. R. (2012). A review of large area monitoring of land cover change using Landsat data. *Remote sensing of Environment*, 122, 66 74.
- Haralick, R. M. (1983). Ridges and valleys on digital images. Computer Vision, Graphics, and Image Processing, 22(1), 28 - 38.
- Harrington, R., McLeod, P., and M.Clark. (2009). SPSS short course. Retrieved October 12, 2009,
- Harvey, K., Grabs, W., 2003. WMO report of the GCOS. pp. 18 20.
- Havelaar, A. H., and Melse, J. M. (2003).Quantifying public health risk in the WHO Guidelines for drinking-water quality: A burden of disease approach.
- He, Z., Weng, H., Wu, T., Ho, H., Lin, Y., and Ran, Q. (2015). The impact of moving rainfall events on hill slope pollutant transport. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, DOI: 10.1007 / s12665 - 015 - 4623 - 0
- Henao, J., and Baanante, C. (2006). Agricultural production and soil nutrient mining in Africa:
 implications for resource conservation and policy development. IFDC-An
 International Center for Soil Fertility and Agricultural Development.
- Howard, C. S. (1933). Determination of total dissolved solids in water analysis. *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Analytical Edition*, 5 (1), 4 - 6.
- Howard, G., and Bartram, J. (2003). Domestic water quantity, service level, and health.

- Hunink, J. E., and Droogers, P. (2015). Impact assessment of investment portfolios for business case development of the Nairobi Water Fund in the Upper Tana River, Kenya. *Wageningen, the Netherlands*.
- Jasiewicz, J., Netzel, P., and Stepinski, T. (2015). GeoPAT: A toolbox for pattern-based information retrieval from large geospatial databases. *Computers and Geosciences*, 80, 62 73.
- Jayawardena, A. W., and Rezaur, R. B. (2000). Drop size distribution and kinetic energy load of rainstorms in Hong Kong. *Hydrological Processes*, 14 (6), 1069 1082.
- Jiang, F. S., Huang, Y. H., Wang, M. K., Lin, J. S., Zhao, G., and Ge, H. L. (2014). Effects of Rainfall Intensity and Slope Gradient on Steep Colluvial Deposit Erosion in Southeast China. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 78 (5), 1741 - 1752.

Kabacoff, R. (2015). R in action: data analysis and graphics with R. Manning Publications Co.

- Ke, Y., Im, J., Lee, J., Gong, H., and Ryu, Y. (2015). Characteristics of Landsat 8 OLI-derived NDVI by comparison with multiple satellite sensors and in-situ observations. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 164, 298 - 313.
- Kithiia, S. M. (2012). Water Quality Degradation Trends in Kenya over the Last Decade. INTECH Open Access Publisher.
- Knaeps, E., Dogliotti, A. I., Raymaekers, D., Ruddick, K., and Sterckx, S. (2012). In situ evidence of non-zero reflectance in the OLCI 1020nm band for a turbid estuary. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 120, 133 - 144.
- Knaeps, E., Ruddick, K. G., Doxaran, D., Dogliotti, A. I., Nechad, B., Raymaekers, D., and Sterckx, S. (2015). A SWIR based algorithm to retrieve total suspended matter in extremely turbidity waters. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 168, 66 - 79.

- Knott, C. L., and Steube, G. (2010). Using excel in an introductory statistics course: *a comparison of instructor and student perspectives.*
- Kwa, A. (2001). Agriculture in Developing Countries: Which Way Forward? Small Farmers and the Need for Alternative, development-friendly food production systems. trade Occasional Paper, (4).
- LaSota, D. E., Dolfi, J. D., Vasulka, C., Evans, J., Sheeran, W., and Bidlack, T. W. (2000) Laboratory Manual for Chemical Analyses of Public Drinking Water.
- LeChevallier, M. W., and Au, K. K. (2004). Water treatment and pathogen control. *IWA Publishing.*
- LeChevallier, M. W., and Au, K. K. (2013). Water Treatment and Pathogen Control: Process Efficiency in Achieving Safe Drinking-water. *Water Intelligence* Online, 12, 9781780405858.
- Lee, S. W., Hwang, S. J., Lee, S. B., Hwang, H. S., and Sung, H. C. (2009). Landscape ecological approach to the relationships of land use patterns in watersheds to water quality characteristics. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 92 (2), 80 89.

Leisher, C. (2013). Maragua and Thika / Chania Baseline Survey for the Upper Tana Water

- Leo ML, and Dekkar M (2000) Hand book of *water analysis* (1 25, 115 117, 143, 175, 223 226, 261, 273, 767).
- Lillesand, T., Kiefer, R. W., and Chipman, J. (2014). *Remote sensing and image interpretation*. John Wiley and Sons.
- Lim, J., and Choi, M. (2015). Assessment of water quality based on Landsat 8 operational land imager associated with human activities in Korea. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 187 (6), 1 17.

- Liu, C., Kroeze, C., Hoekstra, A. Y., and Gerbens-Leenes, W. (2012). The past and future trends in grey water footprints of anthropogenic nitrogen and phosphorus input to major world rivers. *Ecological Indicators*, 18, 42 - 49.
- Liu, R., Dong, G., Xu, F., Wang, X., and He, M. (2015). Spatial-temporal characteristics of phosphorus in non-point source pollution with grid-based export coefficient model and geographical information system. *Water Science and Technology*, 71 (11), 1709 -1717.
- Lu, D., Mausel, P., Brondizio, E., and Moran, E. (2004). Change detection techniques. International journal of remote sensing, 25 (12), 2365 - 2401.
- Lunetta, R. S., Knight, J. F., Ediriwickrema, J., Lyon, J. G., and Worthy, L. D. (2006). Landcover change detection using multi-temporal MODIS NDVI data. *Remote sensing of environment*, 105 (2), 142 - 154.
- Maillard, P., and Santos, N. A. P. (2008). A spatial statistical approach for modeling the effect of non-point source pollution on different water quality parameters in the Velhas river watershed–Brazil. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 86 (1), 158 - 170.
- Maingi, J. K., and Marsh, S. E. (2002). Quantifying hydrologic impacts following dam construction along the Tana River, Kenya. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 50 (1), 53 -79.
- Marrari, M., Hu, C., and Daly, K. (2006). Validation of SeaWiFS chlorophyll concentrations in the Southern Ocean: A revisit. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 105 (4), 367 375.

- Marwick, T. R., Tamooh, F., Ogwoka, B., Teodoru, C., Borges, A. V., Darchambeau, F., and Bouillon, S. (2014). Dynamic seasonal nitrogen cycling in response to anthropogenic N loading in a tropical catchment, Athi–Galana–Sabaki River, Kenya. *Biogeosciences*, 11 (2), 443 460.
- Mary N. and Gichuki M. (2015). An assessment of the economic profitability of small scale farm enterprises in Trans-Nzoia County. *AJEST* 6 12

Mather, P., and Tso, B. (2016). Classification methods for remotely sensed data. CRC press.

Mattikalli, N. M., and Richards, K. S. (1996). Estimation of surface water quality changes in response to land use change: application of the export coefficient model using remote sensing and geographical information system. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 48 (3), 263 - 282.

Mulei, K. S. (2012). Water Quality Degradation Trends in Kenya over the Last Decade.

- Murdoch, T., Cheo, M., and O'Laughlin, K. (1996). The stream keeper's field guide: *watershed inventory and stream monitoring methods*.
- Nijbroek, R. P., and Andelman, S. J. (2015). Regional suitability for agricultural intensification: a spatial analysis of the Southern Agricultural Growth Corridor of Tanzania. *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*, 1 - 17.
- Nobuhle P. Majozi., Suhyb M. Salama., Stewart Bernard., David M. Harper.,(2014), *Water quality and remote sensing* case study of lake Naivasha Kenya.
- O'Callaghan, J. F., and Mark, D. M. (1984). The extraction of drainage networks from digital elevation data. *Computer vision, graphics, and image processing*, 28 (3), 323 344.
- Okoba, B. O. (2005). Farmers' indicators for soil erosion mapping and crop yield estimation in central highlands of Kenya (No. 62). Wageningen University and Research Centre.

- Olofsson, P., Foody, G. M., Stehman, S. V., and Woodcock, C. E. (2013). Making better use of accuracy data in land change studies: Estimating accuracy and area and quantifying uncertainty using stratified estimation. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 129, 122 -131.
- Omiti, J., and Omiti, J. (2012). Research Challenges in Agriculture and Rural Development in Kenya. *African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development*, 12 (6).
- Ongley, E. D. (2000). The Yellow River: managing the unmanageable. *Water International*, 25 (2), 227 231.
- Otieno, H., and Ogalo, O. J. (2012). Coupling agricultural non-point source (AgNPS) model and geographic information system (GIS) tools to predict peak runoff and sediment generation in the upper River Njoro catchment in Kenya.
- Pebesma, E. J. (2004). Multivariable geostatistics in S: the gstat package. Computers and Geosciences, 30 (7), 683 691.

Pinheiro, R., and Wagner, G. (2001). Upgrading water treatment plants. CRC Press.

Poudel, D. D. (2006). Challenges for improving surface water quality in an agricultural watershed in Louisiana. In Y. J. Xu, & V. P. Singh (Eds.), Coastal Environment and Water Quality, Proceedings of the AIH 25th Anniversary Meeting & International Conference 'Challenges in Coastal Hydrology and Water Quality', Water Resources Publications, Highlands Ranch, CO (pp. 251 - 261).

Poudel, D. D., Lee, T., Srinivasan, R., Abbaspour, K., and Jeong, C. Y. (2013). Assessment of seasonal and spatial variation of surface water quality, identification of factors associated with water quality variability, and the modeling of critical nonpoint source pollution areas in an agricultural watershed. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 68 (3), 155 - 171.

- Quinn, P. F. B. J., Beven, K., Chevallier, P., and Planchon, O. (1991). The prediction of hillslope flow paths for distributed hydrological modelling using digital terrain models. *Hydrological processes*, 5 (1), 59 - 79.
- Ran, Q., Shi, Z., Zhao, J., and Xu, Y. (2012). The impact of moving rainfall on soil erosion based on crust characteristics [J]. *Journal of Tsinghua University* (Science and Technology), 6, 017.
- Ran, Q., Su, D., Li, P., and He, Z. (2012). Experimental study of the impact of rainfall characteristics on runoff generation and soil erosion. *Journal of Hydrology*, 424, 99 -111.
- Republic of Kenya (2004). Strategy for Re vitalizing Agriculture 2004 2014, Ministry of Agriculture and Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries Development, Nairobi.
- Rodríguez-Blanco, M. L., Taboada-Castro, M. M., Palleiro, L., and Taboada-Castro, M. T.
 (2010). Temporal changes in suspended sediment transport in an Atlantic catchment, NW Spain. Geomorphology, 123 (1), 181 - 188.
- Romano K., (2009), Food security in Kenya, Ministry of Agriculture, Kenya. Available at http://www.kilimo.go.ke/kilimo_docs/pdf/food_security_main_paper_ps.pdf. Accessed on date
- Roy, D. P., Wulder, M. A., Loveland, T. R., Woodcock, C. E., Allen, R. G., Anderson, M. C., and Scambos, T. A. (2014). Landsat-8: Science and product vision for terrestrial global change research. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 145, 154 - 172.
- Saenyi WW and Chemilil MC., (2002), Modeling of suspended sediment discharge for masinga catchment Reseivoir in Kenya. *Journal of civil engineering* JKUAT, vol. 8 ,pp.89-98.

- Salvacion, A. R. (2016). Terrain characterization of small island using publicly available data and open-source software: a case study of Marinduque, Philippines. *Modeling Earth Systems and Environment*, 2 (1), 1 - 9.
- Sargaonkar, A., and Deshpande, V. (2003). Development of an overall index of pollution for surface water based on a general classification scheme in the indian context. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 89 (1), 43 - 67.
- Shah, K. A., and Joshi, G. S. (2015). Evaluation of water quality index for River Sabarmati, Gujarat, India. Applied Water Science, 1 - 10.
- Shao, G., and Wu, J. (2008). On the accuracy of landscape pattern analysis using remote sensing data. *Landscape Ecology*, 23 (5), 505 511.
- Shen, F., Suhyb Salama, M. H. D., Zhou, Y. X., Li, J. F., Su, Z., and Kuang, D. B. (2010). Remote-sensing reflectance characteristics of highly turbid estuarine waters-a comparative experiment of the Yangtze River and the Yellow River. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 31 (10), 2639 - 2654.
- Shi, Z. H., Ai, L., Li, X., Huang, X. D., Wu, G. L., and Liao, W. (2013). Partial least-squares regression for linking land-cover patterns to soil erosion and sediment yield in watersheds. *Journal of Hydrology*, 498, 165 - 176.
- Singh, A. (2009). Characterizing runoff generation mechanism for modelling runoff and soil erosion, in small watershed of Himalayan region (Doctoral dissertation, Master thesis. International Institute for Geo-Information and Earth Observation, Enshede. The Netherlands & Indian Institute of Remote Sensing, National Remote Sensing Agency (NRSA), Department of Space, Dehradun. India. 1 75).

- Singh, V., and Fiorentino, M. (Eds.). (2013). *Geographical information systems in hydrology* (Vol. 26). Springer Science and Business Media.
- Smith, L., Porter, K., Hiscock, K., Porter, M. J., and Benson, D. (Eds.). (2015). *Catchment and river basin management: integrating science and governance*. Routledge.

Smith, V. H., Joye, S. B., and Howarth, R. W. (2006). Eutrophication of freshwater and marine ecosystems. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 51 (1part2), 351 - 355.

- Song, C., Woodcock, C. E., Seto, K. C., Lenney, M. P., and Macomber, S. A. (2001). Classification and change detection using Landsat TM data: when and how to correct atmospheric effects?. *Remote sensing of Environment*, 75 (2), 230 - 244.
- Sørensen, R., and Seibert, J. (2007). Effects of DEM resolution on the calculation of topographical indices: TWI and its components. *Journal of Hydrology*, 347 (1), 79 -89.
- Steenhuis, T. S., Winchell, M., Rossing, J., Zollweg, J. A., and Walter, M. F. (1995). SCS runoff equation revisited for variable - source runoff areas. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, 121 (3), 234 - 238.
- Suthar, S., Sharma, J., Chabukdhara, M., Nema, A.K., 2012. Water quality assessment of river Hindon at Ghaziabad, India: impact of industrial and urban waste water. *Environmental Monitoring. Assessment* 165 (1 - 4): 103 - 112.
- Thierfelder, C., and Wall, P. C. (2009). Effects of conservation agriculture techniques on infiltration and soil water content in Zambia and Zimbabwe. *Soil and tillage research*, 105 (2), 217 227.
- Thierfelder, C., Mwila, M., and Rusinamhodzi, L. (2013). Conservation agriculture in eastern and southern provinces of Zambia: Long-term effects on soil quality and maize

productivity. Soil and tillage research, 126, 246 - 258.

- Tittonell, P. (2014). Ecological intensification of agriculture sustainable by nature. Current Opinion in *Environmental Sustainability*, 8, 53 61.
- Tjandra, F. L., Kondhoh, A., and Mohammed, M. A. (2003). A conceptual database design for hydrology using GIS. Proceedings of Asia Pacific Association of Hydrology and Water Resources, Kyoto, 13 - 15.
- Toman, M.J., 2009. Physico Chemical Characteristics and Seasonal Changes of plankton communities in a reservoir. *Lakes and reservoirs research and management*. 2 (1 2); 71 76.
- Tong, S. T., and Chen, W. (2002). Modeling the relationship between land use and surface water quality. *Journal of environmental management*, 66 (4), 377 393.
- Tscharntke, T., Clough, Y., Wanger, T. C., Jackson, L., Motzke, I., Perfecto, I.,. and Whitbread,
 A. (2012). Global food security, biodiversity conservation and the future of agricultural intensification. *Biological conservation*, 151 (1), 53 59.
- Tsou, M. H. (2004). Integrating Web-based GIS and image processing tools for environmental monitoring and natural resource management. *Journal of Geographical Systems*, 6 (2), 155 - 174.
- Tu, J. (2009). Combined impact of climate and land use changes on stream flow and water quality in eastern Massachusetts, USA. *Journal of Hydrology*, 379 (3), 268 - 283.
- Turner, R. E., and Rabalais, N. N. (2003). Linking landscape and water quality in the Mississippi River basin for 200 years. *BioScience*, 53 (6), 563 - 572.
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). (2005). Integrated water resources management plans training manual and operation guide.

- United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). (2002). Meeting basic needs UNESCO world water assessment programme. Available at (ww.unesco.org/water wwa/facts- figures/basic-needs.shtml). Accessed on date
- Vermote, E., Justice, C., Claverie, M., and Franch, B. (2016). Preliminary analysis of the performance of the Landsat 8/OLI land surface reflectance product. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 185, 46 - 56.
- Von Braun, J. (2007). *The world food situation: new driving forces and required actions*. Intl Food Policy Res Inst.
- Wang, X., & Liu, X. (2004). Effect of pH and concentration on the diffusion of radiostrontium in compacted bentonite—a capillary experimental study. *Applied radiation and isotopes*, 61 (6), 1413 - 1418.
- Wang, X., and Yin, Z. Y. (1997). Using GIS to assess the relationship between land use and water quality at a watershed level. *Environment International journal*, 23 (1), 103 -114.
- Water, U. N. (2009). The United Nations World Water Development Report 3 Water in a Changing World. United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization, Paris.
- Weber, K. T. (2001). A method to incorporate phenology into land cover change analysis. Journal of Range Management, 54 (2), A1 - A7.
- Weng, Q. (2002). Land use change analysis in the Zhujiang Delta of China using satellite remote sensing, GIS and stochastic modelling. *Journal of environmental management*,

64 (3), 273 - 284.

- Whitehead, P. G., Wilby, R. L., Battarbee, R. W., Kernan, M., and Wade, A. J. (2009). A review of the potential impacts of climate change on surface water quality. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 54 (1), 101 - 123.
- World Health Organization. (2004). *Guidelines for drinking-water quality* (Vol. 1). World Health Organization.
- Yatich T, Patwa Shah W, Mutua J, Tanui J, Kuria D, Githiru M, Kinuthia W, Waithaka J, and Njoroge I. (2009). Challenging conventional mindsets and disconnects in conservation.
- Yeshaneh, E., Eder, A., and Blöschl, G. (2014). Temporal variation of suspended sediment transport in the Koga catchment, North Western Ethiopia and environmental implications. *Hydrological Processes*, 28 (24), 5972 5984.
- Yu, S., Shang, J., Zhao, J., and Guo, H. (2003). Factor analysis and dynamics of water quality of the Songhua River, Northeast China. *Water, air, and soil pollution*, 144 (1 4), 159 169.
- Yu, S., Xu, Z., Wu, W., and Zuo, D. (2015). Effect of land use on the seasonal variation of stream water quality in the Wei River basin, China. *Proceedings of the International Association of Hydrological Sciences*, 368, 454 - 459.
- Zalidis, G., Stamatiadis, S., Takavakoglou, V., Eskridge, K., and Misopolinos, N. (2002).
 Impacts of agricultural practices on soil and water quality in the Mediterranean region and proposed assessment methodology. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment,* 88 (2), 137 146.

7.0 APPENDICES

Appendix 7.1: Wavelength Bands

Bands	Name of band	Wavelength (µm)
Band 1	Coastal aerosols	0.43-0.45
Band2	Blue	0.45-0.51
Band3	Green	0.53-059
Band4	Red	0.64-0.67
Band5	NIR	0.85-0.88
Band6	SWIR1	1.57-1.65
Band7	SWIR	2.11-2.29
Band8	Panchromatic	0.50-0.68
Band 9	Cirrus	1.36-1.38
Band 10	Thermal infrared	10.60-11.19
Band 11	TIRs	11.50-12.51

Appendix	7.	2:W	ater	quality	analytical	methods
----------	----	-----	------	---------	------------	---------

Parameters	Abbreviations	Units	Analytical methods	
	рН	pH units	Ph. meter (electronic)	
	1	r	()	
Alkalinity	ALKA	Mg / 1	Titration	
Color	Color	Hazen units	Comparator	
Electro Conductivity	EC	10 μs cm ⁻¹	Conductivity meter	
Turbidity	TURB	<5NTU	Turbid meter	
Nitrite	NO ₂ ⁻	Mg/1	UV Spectrophotometer	
Nitrite	NO ₃ ⁻	Mg/1	UV Spectrophotometer	
Chemical oxygen	COD	Mg /l	Chlorimetric and	
demand			titrimetric using COD	
			digester	